ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County

Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

RICKY ANTHONY SHORT,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-000782

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED
DEC 02 2019
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred by allowing Detectives Bailey and Riedel to testify they did not believe appellant's explanation for matters that appeared inculpatory, since their "investigative opinions" constituted irrelevant speculation that were wholly improper for law enforcement witnesses?

2.

Whether the court erred by allowing Detective Serrundo to testify that during his investigation he "cleared" another suspect since this irrelevant testimony was not, as the court reasoned, made relevant because the defense maintained another person, and not appellant, killed the decedent?

3.

Whether the court erred by refusing to suppress appellant's statements, since appellant's will was overborne by police deception where the Detectives admitted they did not believe appellant was telling them the truth but continued with the interrogation while engaging in the condemned Missouri v. Seibert, 542 U.S. 600 (2004) and State v. Navy, 386 S.C. 294, 688 S.E.2d 838 (2010), "question first-give Miranda warnings later" tactic where appellant was handcuffed at the crime scene, and interrogated for about four hours at the police station before Miranda warnings were given, since the police deliberately locked appellant into his "narrative" they did not believe before appellant was given Miranda warnings?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted at the April 2016 term of the Charleston County Grand Jury for two counts of murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 1099. The second victim was the decedent's twenty-four week old baby who died two weeks after her birth. The decedent was appellant's girlfriend.

Appellant's case was called to trial on April 16, 2018, before the Honorable Deadra Jefferson, and a jury. Peter Shahid represented appellant. Burns Wetmore and Richard Waring were the solicitors. R. 17.

On April 20, 2018, the jury found appellant guilty on all three counts. R. 1086, ll. 8-23. Judge Jefferson sentenced appellant to life imprisonment on the two counts of murder and imposed a five-year concurrent term on the weapons charge. R. 1092, ll. 7-14.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Admission of evidence

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). Thus, an appellate court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. Id.

“The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 91, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011) (quoting State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id.; see also State v. Brockmeyer, 406 S.C. 324, 340, 751 S.E.2d 645, 653 (2013).

“Rule 701 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence explains when lay witness testimony is admissible.” Id. at 439, 721 S.E.2d at 467.

If the witness is not testifying as an expert, the witness' testimony in the form of opinions or inferences is limited to those opinions or inferences which (a) are rationally based on the perception of the witness, (b) are helpful to a clear understanding of the witness' testimony or the determination of a fact in issue, and (c) do not require special knowledge, skill, experience or training.

Statements given by a criminal defendant

“On appeal, the conclusion of the trial judge on issues of fact as to the voluntariness of a confession will not be disturbed unless so manifestly erroneous as to show an abuse of discretion.” State v. Rochester, 301 S.C. 196, 200, 391 S.E.2d 244, 247 (1990); see also State v. Reed, 332 S.C. 35, 43, 503 S.E.2d 747, 751 (1998). Put another way, the reviewing court will reverse a trial judge's ruling on the voluntariness of the confession when the ruling is “so erroneous as to constitute an abuse of discretion.” State v. Myers, 359 S.C. 40, 47, 596 S.E.2d

488, 492 (2004). “In criminal cases, appellate courts are bound by fact finding in response to preliminary motions where there has been conflicting testimony or where the findings are supported by the evidence and not clearly wrong or controlled by an error of law.” State v. Asbury, 328 S.C. 187, 193, 493 S.E.2d 349, 352 (1997).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant's statements during interrogation

Prior to trial, defense counsel filed a motion to suppress appellant's statements and a memorandum in support of that motion to suppress citing Missouri v. Seibert, 542 U.S. 600 (2004) and State v. Navy, 386 S.C. 294, 688 S.E.2d 838 (2010). The defense argued the state in this case engaged in the now condemned "question first–Mirandize later" tactic. R. 1 – 16.

The memorandum noted that appellant was handcuffed at the crime scene in the street where his six-month pregnant girlfriend was found stabbed on Railroad Avenue in North Charleston. Appellant called 911 at 11:23 p.m. that Saturday October 10, 2015 night to report the crime. Appellant was handcuffed at 11:35 p.m. and transported to the North Charleston Police Department. R. 4.

Between 1:19 a.m. Sunday morning (or earlier) and 4:25 a.m., detectives entered, interrogated appellant, and left the interrogation room. It was not until 4:26 a.m. on Sunday morning that appellant was read his Miranda¹ warnings "in spite of approximately 3 hours of off-and-on interrogation." Appellant was interrogated by at least three detectives. R. 5 – 8.

A Jackson v. Denno² hearing was held prior to trial. Robert Bailey had been a North Charleston detective for about thirteen years. R. 25, l. 15 – 26, l. 2. He was dispatched to the area near Railroad Avenue regarding a homicide late that Saturday, October 10, 2015 night. R. 26, l. 3 – 27, l. 3. Appellant was overheard at the crime scene saying he had argued with the decedent earlier. The decedent was six months pregnant, and she had been stabbed. R. 29, l. 7 – 30, l. 10. Bailey claimed appellant was not considered a suspect, "he was just a person with

¹ Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

² Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368 (1964).

information,” although appellant was handcuffed at the crime scene, and taken to the police station immediately. R. 26, l. 12 – 29, l. 18. The police learned appellant was the decedent’s boyfriend and the father of one of her children. R. 29, l. 7 – 30, l. 10.

Bailey estimated appellant arrived at the police department at about 1:00 in the morning on Sunday. Bailey said he was “in and out of the room just trying to get as much information from him” for about “two to three hours.” R. 30, l. 8 – 32, l. 14. Appellant had blood on his clothing – it was undisputed that appellant did not have a shirt on, and that he was dirty and bloody. “I noticed that he had blood on his forehead and I wanted to see what more blood he had on him because I do know [from] witnesses and from what we saw on the scene from officers that he [appellant] attended [to] the victim as she was lying on the ground.” R. 32, l. 11 – 33, l. 1.

Bailey had appellant stand up in the interrogation room, and Bailey noticed blood on appellant’s hands, a cut on his finger and injuries to his face and nose. Bailey thought the cut on appellant’s hand was from a knife, a razor blade, or other sharp object. R. 33, l. 2 – 34, l. 18.

Bailey said appellant became a suspect at some point during the interrogation, and he claimed that was the reason the police only then gave appellant Miranda warnings at that late time. R. 34, l. 4 – 37, l. 2. Appellant was given his Miranda warnings at 4:24 in the morning on Sunday, October 11, 2015. R. 37, ll. 3-9.

Appellant waived his rights and he told the police that he had been involved in an argument with his decedent girlfriend. He explained the cuts on his hands had come from him pulling roses or flowers from a window box in downtown Charleston a few days prior to this. R. 38, l. 8 – 43, l. 15. Bailey said appellant never admitted his guilt, and he also thought appellant’s statements were “mainly self-serving.” R. 45, ll. 7-25.

On cross-examination, Bailey admitted he knew appellant was handcuffed immediately at the crime scene where his girlfriend was found stabbed. Bailey knew a Hispanic woman on the scene gave a statement to a Spanish speaking police officer about a suspect, and law enforcement thought it was inculpatory of appellant. However, others on the scene were not interviewed for whatever reason. This Hispanic woman apparently “disappeared” between this night, and the time of trial. R. 48, l. 4 – 52, l. 22.

Bailey admitted that appellant was in custody from around 11:30 p.m. on Saturday night, October 10, 2015 until the interview ended at about 12 o’clock noon on Sunday afternoon, October 11, 2015. Bailey acknowledged appellant was not read his Miranda warnings until five hours after he was initially handcuffed, detained, and brought to the police station for interrogation. R. 53, l. 2 – 57, l. 16. Bailey claimed he could not remember if appellant was ever told he was a suspect in the murder while he was questioned. R. 57, ll. 9-16.

Detective Sam Riedel was the state’s second in camera witness. Riedel also responded to Railroad Avenue scene late at night on October 10, 2015 into the early hours of October 11, 2015. R. 62, l. 13 – 64, l. 10. Riedel next saw appellant at the police station where he entered the room while appellant was being interrogated by Detective Bailey. Riedel estimated this was about 3:30 or 3:45 on Sunday morning, October 11, 2015. R. 64, ll. 10-20. Riedel offered that appellant seemed coherent and awake. Riedel added: “[D]etails didn’t obviously match up with what I had already known.” R. 65, l. 11 – 66, l. 8.

Riedel maintained at about 4:30 in the morning on Sunday, “it was determined at that point that *it was likely that he was a suspect rather than a witness because of the finite details that hadn’t matched up.*” (emphasis added). Appellant was *then* given Miranda warnings at

about 4:30 a.m. by Detectives Bailey and Riedel. R. 66, ll. 9-22. This was about three hours after appellant was initially brought in, according to Riedel. R. 70, ll. 7-13.

Riedel remembered appellant explaining the injuries to his hand as coming from when he was picking flowers out of a flower bed “a few nights prior while being downtown in Charleston” with the decedent. R. 72, ll. 11-22.

Riedel also recalled that Detective Johnson entered the room at about 6:30 that Sunday morning. “We did *another recap* to better allow Detective Johnson to get an understanding as he [appellant] would tell [what happened].” R. 73, ll. 2-11. (emphasis added).

Riedel testified that appellant explained to them that he had sex with the decedent that night, that they had gone to the Wal-Mart after that, and another argument later ensued. The decedent was said to hit appellant in the face with car keys, and the decedent walked away. Appellant’s also told the detectives that he heard screaming down the street, and he ran in that direction to find someone assaulting the decedent. The assailant ran away. This also, Riedel told the trial judge, was inconsistent with what the police believed had occurred based upon their investigation. R. 76, l. 2 – 77, l. 23.

Riedel offered that appellant’s demeanor as “totally flat.” Appellant asked the Detectives during interrogation, and prior to Miranda warnings if he was being charged in the crime. Riedel maintained he answered appellant, something like: “Probably not right now.” Riedel also claimed appellant was only, in his estimation, “bordering on being a suspect.” R. 94, l. 20 – 96, l. 15. However, he admitted Detective Bailey *already considered appellant the “primary suspect”* prior to Miranda warnings being given. R. 95, l. 6 – 96, l. 15.

Riedel admitted appellant was detained, not free to leave from 11:30 p.m. on Saturday night until 4:30 in the morning on Sunday, October 11, 2015, without Miranda warnings being

read to him, and not being told he was a suspect. Law enforcement, as just seen above, affirmatively denied that appellant was a suspect when he asked. R. 98, l. 10 – 99, l. 9.

Law enforcement had an eyewitness account, referenced above, that the assailant was wearing a black jacket and a white shirt. Riedel said appellant told Detective Johnson, in statement at 6:30 in the morning that he had given his black jacket to a homeless person on a prior occasion. The black jacket, a white shirt appellant was wearing, and a knife, were key crime scene forensic evidence items. R. 104, l. 17 – 105, l. 8.

Riedel told the solicitor on redirect examination that he did not have any duty to inform appellant he was a suspect. He told appellant he was not being charged when appellant asked, and Riedel maintained appellant was not “charged until several hours later.” R. 107, l. 10 – 108, l. 7.

Detective Angela Johnson talked to appellant at about 6:30 a.m. on the morning of October 11, 2015. R. 110, l. 16 – 111, l. 25. Appellant was not wearing a shirt and he had a pair of pants on. Johnson was told by appellant that the argument began with his decedent girlfriend over her belief that another woman was calling appellant on his telephone. The decedent hit appellant with her car keys, and she walked away. “He said that he didn’t immediately follow her and then he heard screams. So then he ran down the road and saw I believe a black male.” R. 114, l. 1 – 115, l. 10.

Appellant also told Johnson the cut on his hands came from “reaching into a flower bed downtown to pull some flowers for Malakia [the decedent] and he cut his hand on a thorn.” Johnson agreed with the other detectives that appellant’s statements were self-serving and “he didn’t seem like he was remorseful or he wasn’t crying.” Johnson said appellant knew at this point that his decedent girlfriend had died at the hospital. R. 117, l. 2 – 119, l. 23.

Appellant was also told “that officers had found the knife, black jacket, long sleeved [white] shirt all together covered in blood.” Appellant “didn’t directly admit his guilt” at that time either. R. 119, l. 13 – 120, l. 12. Appellant did not tell Johnson that she could tell the decedent’s mother that “he [appellant] was sorry.” R. 120, l. 16 – 121, l. 16.

Johnson admitted she did a “supplemental report” in January of 2016, three months after the incident, where she added additional information. R. 126, l. 16 – 129, l. 12. Johnson admitted it was not good police work to wait such a long time to do a report.

Arguments of counsel

The judge told defense counsel “I read your brief” [memorandum], and defense counsel then argued that “it is undisputed his advice of rights was not given until 4:26 a.m.” In total, “[t]his is a 12-hour ordeal. There is no other way of describing that was how this is transpiring.” R. 144, ll. 2-17.

Appellant was immediately handcuffed at the scene, taken to the police department, and questioned until 4:25 with no Miranda warnings being given. Defense counsel argued that law enforcement was making a calculated claim that appellant was not as a suspect until later in the interrogation but that “just doesn’t hold any water.” R. 144, l. 2 – 146, l. 4. Appellant was interrogated for hours in a calculated attempt to obtain inculpatory statements before Miranda warnings were given. R. 145, l. 3 – 146, l. 16.

The solicitor argued that appellant was not a suspect at the time the police found him shirtless with blood on him. They knew he was the decedent’s boyfriend. The solicitor argued the police were just trying to determine what happened initially, and when they saw cuts on his hands. This was before they gave appellant Miranda warnings at 4:30 a.m. on the morning of October 11, 2015. R. 146, l. 19 – 152, l. 4.

The solicitor also urged the judge prior to her ruling that the state only wanted to admit three statements appellant gave during interrogation. The first was at 4:30 a.m., which was appellant's "self-serving statement about how he cut his hand." The second was appellant's statement that he gave his black jacket to a homeless person. That occurred at about 6:30 a.m. The solicitor also said at 11:36 a.m. appellant expressed his regret for what occurred. The solicitor argued all three statements were voluntarily given and they did not violate Missouri v. Seibert.³ The solicitor claimed: "They are trying to guard against a question first strategy." R. 148, l. 1 – 152, l. 4.

Defense counsel responded it was clear appellant was in custody and that he could not leave. Pursuant to State v. Navy, the judge had to look at the "location, purpose, and length of interrogation." Defense counsel told the judge that law enforcement was "getting bits and pieces of information from him" that led to the three statements the police wanted to use against appellant. R. 153, l. 5 – 155, l. 17. Defense counsel also said that Missouri v. Seibert and State v. Navy did not create a magic line for when a suspect should be given his Miranda warnings. R. 155, l. 17 – 156, l. 8.

Ruling

The judge ruled that appellant gave self-serving statements to law enforcement, and she did not believe that appellant's rights were violated in this case pursuant to Miranda or Missouri v. Seibert. R. 157, l. 4 – 166, l. 7.

Jury In

Officer John O'Connell testified he went to the crime scene at about 11:26 p.m. on October 10, 2015. The crime scene was Railroad Avenue in North Charleston. R. 262, l. 4 –

³ Missouri v. Seibert, 542 U.S. 600 (2004).

264, l. 6. He found “a female lying face up on the ground at the edge of the driveway . . .” R. 264, l. 24 – 266, l. 3.

The decedent was not responsive, and O’Connell was told she was not breathing. O’Connell could tell that the decedent had been badly wounded by her stab wounds and he did CPR on her until EMS arrived “a few minutes later and at which time they took over.” R. 266, l. 4 – 271, l. 5.

O’Connell at some point noticed appellant standing nearby without a shirt on. O’Connell said he heard appellant utter “a statement that it was his girlfriend and they were in an argument.” R. 271, l. 17 – 274, l. 8. O’Connell said appellant was detained because he had admitted he an argument with the badly wounded decedent. O’Connell wavered on cross-examination when asked to admit that appellant was also kneeling next to the decedent and touching her. R. 281, l. 24 – 283, l. 16. Regardless, O’Connell did acknowledge that appellant was not free to leave once he was handcuffed and detained. R. 283, l. 24 – 284, l. 23.

When he was then shown a film of the crime scene, O’Connell did admit that appellant was seen kneeling down next to the decedent with no shirt on. R. 296, l. 16 – 298, l. 5.

North Charleston police officer Justin Infinger was the second officer to arrive on the crime scene at 11:30 p.m. on the night of October 10, 2015. He remembered seeing the pregnant decedent laying on the ground. R. 299, l. 22 – 302, l. 14.

Infinger also saw appellant there. He remembered appellant telling someone that the decedent was pregnant. He did not consider appellant to be any threat to anyone. R. 302, l. 17 – 304, l. 7.

Again, the suspect was said to be a black man wearing jeans, a white shirt and black jacket. Officer Cindy Bordallo testified she spoke to a Hispanic woman who gave her this

description. Again, the state could not locate this Hispanic woman to testify at appellant's trial. R. 323, l. 23 – 325, l. 23.

The next day, the police found a black jacket and a white shirt about two blocks from where the decedent was found lying in the road the night before. A knife was also found in the same overgrown area, and the items appeared to have been thrown over a fence. R. 335, l. 6 – 342, l. 23.

Appellant's statements during interrogation

Detective Bailey testified in the presence of the jury and he opined, over objection, that appellant's "story" did not match up with what other witnesses were telling him. R. 382, l. 3 – 383, l. 24.

Bailey was also asked if appellant's explanation that he had cut his hand picking thorny flowers for the decedent seemed like a reasonable explanation to him. Defense counsel objected that this was outside the ability of Detective Bailey to answer, that it was an opinion, and that it called was speculation. The judge agreed that it was speculation. However, the judge ruled that Detective Bailey could give his opinion because it was a rational explanation or "perception based on his years of experience." R. 453, l. 14 – 454, l. 24. Detective Bailey then said he did not believe appellant's "story" about the flowers having cut his hand. R. 454, ll. 21-24.

Detective Sam Riedel also testified in the presence of the jury. Riedel was asked whether he believed appellant's statement that he followed the decedent that evening because he wanted to calm her down. Defense counsel also objected that this opinion would not be relevant. That objection was also overruled, with the judge adding, "goes to the course of the investigation." R. 477 ll. 4-24. Detective Riedel then said that appellant's explanation "wasn't completely believable, no." R. 477, l. 14 – 478, l. 10.

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