ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-000782

THE STATE, RESPONDENT

v.

RICKY ANTHONY SHORT, APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

J. ANTHONY MABRY
Senior Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 11973

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
NOV 26 2019
SC Court of Appeals

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

Several other things of significance occurred before there was any admission of guilt. Police conducting a neighborhood canvass found the black jacket, thermal shirt, and knife covered in blood, and Short was informed of this at approximately 10:30 a.m. Another break in the interrogation occurred.²⁹

Bustamonte, 412 U.S. at 224, 93 S.Ct. at 2046 (“very few people give incriminating statements in the absence of official action of some kind”).

²⁹ While Short was questioned off and on from about 1:30 a.m. until 12:10 p.m. [a total period of 10 ½ hours], there were numerous breaks during this process where Short was not questioned by anyone at all. Therefore, Short's questioning was not continuous and the length of Short's questioning was not coercive. *See* State v. Johnson, 422 S.C. 439, n. 8, 812 S.E.2d 739 (Ct. App. 2018)(statement held voluntary where defendant was in custody for total of 10 to 11 hours and interrogated for 7 to 8 hours); State v. Crawley, 349 S.C. 459, 562 S.E.2d 683 (Ct. App. 2002)(statement was voluntary where interrogation lasted about 7 and ½ hours, during which time the defendant was given a lie detector test, which lasted an hour and a half, and she also received dinner and restroom breaks); State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 551 S.E.2d 240 (2001)(statement was admissible where interrogation lasted 6 and ½ hours); State v. Chaffee and

At approximately, 11:30 a.m., Lt. Johnson, an African-American³⁰ female who knew Short's mother, entered the conference room alone and informed Short that he was going to be arrested for the murder of the victim, formally booked, and taken to the Detention Center. He was asked if he understood why he was being arrested. He was asked at that time if there was anything he wanted to communicate to the victim's mother and to Short's own mother. It was only at that time that Short made the admissions to Lt. Johnson admitting responsibility for the victim's death that were played for the jury. This entire interview was also audio and video recorded. (State's Ex. 30, Videotape 11:40 a.m. until 12:10 p.m.). In the words of the United States Supreme Court, by that time, things had dramatically changed. See Bobby v. Dixon, 565 U.S. 23, 32 (admission of Dixon's confession was consistent with this Court's precedents: Dixon received Miranda warnings before confessing to Hammer's murder; the effectiveness of those warnings was not impaired by the sort of two-step interrogation technique" condemned in Seibert; and there is no evidence any of Dixon's statements was the product of coercion. That does not excuse the decision not to give Miranda warnings before Dixon's first interrogation. But the Ohio courts recognized that failure and imposed the appropriate remedy: exclusion of the

Ferrell, 285 S.C. 21, 328 S.E.2d 464 (1984)(5 hours); State v. Cannon, 260 S.C. 537, 197 S.E.2d 678 (1973)(statement was voluntary where interrogation lasted about 5 and ½ hours); State v. Parker, 381 S.C. 68, S.E.2d (Ct. App. 2008)(3 ½ hours); State v. Rochester, 301 S.C. 196, 391 S.E.2d 244 (1990)(2 and ½ hours). Moreover, statements given after much longer interviews have been found to be voluntary. See People v. Collins, 106 A.D.3d 1544, 1545; 964 N.Y.S.2d 393, 395 (N.Y.A.D., May 03, 2013) ("Contrary to defendant's contention, ... his statements made during the first 15 hours of interrogation were not involuntary due to police coercion"), *leave to appeal denied*, People v. Collins, 21 N.Y.3d 1072 (N.Y. Sep 12, 2013) (Table); Torrence v. Ozmint, 2008 WL 628604, 23 (D.S.C., Mar. 5, 2008); State v. Neeley, 271 S.C. 33, 244 S.E.2d 522 (1978); State v. Chasteen, 228 S.C. 88, 88 S.E.2d 880 (1955); State v. Gilbert, 273 S.C. 690, 258 S.E.2d 890 (1979).

³⁰ Detectives Bailey and Riedel are Caucasian. Short, who is African-American, never made any admission of guilt until he was questioned by Lt. Johnson alone at 11:40 a.m. And, he only made admissions to her when told he was being arrested for the murder and after Lt. Johnson appealed to Short's humanity, i.e. the victim's mother was entitled to know what happened.

statements given without Miranda warnings. No precedent of this Court required the Ohio courts to do more); *See also State v. Medley*, 417 S.C. 18, 787 S.E.2d 847 (Ct. App. 2016)(while circuit court erred in admitting pre-Miranda statements because they were result of custodial interrogation, circuit court did not err in admitting post-Miranda statements because they were not the product of improper Seibert or Navy technique and were voluntary).

As a result, based on the totality of the circumstances, Judge Jefferson did not abuse her discretion in finding Short's statements were voluntary. State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. at 136, 551 S.E.2d at 252 (recognizing a trial judge's ruling regarding the voluntariness of a statement will be affirmed on appeal if supported by any evidence); State v. Arrowood, 375 S.C. 359, 369 652 S.E.2d 438, 443 (Ct. App. 2007)("The trial judge's determination is not in error if there is any evidence to support it.") *See State v. Rochester*, 301 S.C. 196, 201, 391 S.E.2d 244, 246 (1990)(finding Rochester's statement was properly admitted where sufficient evidence was presented to show he "was not worn down by improper interrogation tactics such as lengthy questioning, trickery, or deceit."). Therefore, this appellate ground has no merit.

Harmless Error

Appellate courts will generally not set aside a judgment based on insubstantial errors not affecting the result. State v. Sherard, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991). After an error is found, the appellate court must then review the other evidence considered at trial besides the erroneously admitted evidence. Baccus, 367 S.C. at 55, 625 S.E.2d at 223 (2006); *see State v. Northcutt*, 372 S.C. 207, 217, 641 S.E.2d 873, 878 (2007)("Determining the trial judge committed error is the first step of our analysis. Next we must determine whether the error was harmless."). The harmlessness of an error in the admission of evidence generally depends on the materiality of the evidence in relation to the case as a whole. State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190,

196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003); see State v. Wiley, 387 S.C. 490, 497, 692 S.E.2d 560, 564 (Ct. App. 2010) (“No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.”). Ultimately, if an error does not contribute to the verdict, that error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 664 S.E.2d 480, 484 (2008). Moreover, “[w]hen guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result.” State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989); see United States v. Hastings, 461 U.S. 499, 509 (1983) (“[T]he [United States Supreme] Court has consistently made clear it is the duty of a reviewing court to consider the trial record as a whole and to ignore errors that are harmless, including most constitutional violations[.]”).

In the present case, notwithstanding consideration of the statements Short made after being informed of his rights, overwhelming evidence of Short’s guilt was presented during trial. Specifically, testimony established when police arrived at the crime scene, Short was present with the victim and Short was covered in blood on his face, arms, chest, and pants. Short blurted out to an officer that the victim was his girlfriend and they had argued.

An eyewitness informed police the assailant was an African-American male wearing a black jacket partially zipped up, a white shirt, and blue jeans. The assailant also had something metal in his hand when he was attacking the victim and fleeing the area on foot.

The autopsy determined the victim was stabbed thirty (30) times with a sharp object consistent with a knife. The victim had defensive wounds to her arms and stab wounds to her neck, chest, and abdomen. She had been in an altercation further down the street from where her body was eventually found, and there was a blood trail leading from that location to where the

victim collapsed. There was also a flip-flop and a tank-top T-shirt found in the area where the assault began, indicating a struggle between the victim and her assailant. Her body was located approximately three (3) blocks from Short's residence. Scrapings were taken of the victim's fingernails at autopsy.

At the police station, police eventually observed on Short's face scratch marks that were fresh and bleeding indicating Short had been in a physical altercation or struggle with someone as had the victim. Police also observed on Short's hands linear cuts in the palm of his right hand, his dominant hand, consistent with someone who had been wielding a knife and their hand slipped down the knife as they were stabbing someone else. Short also had another cut on his hand. These cuts all appeared fresh. Short also had blood on both the palm and back of his hands and around his cuticles. Photographs were taken of Short's hands preserving these injuries and introduced into evidence.

At approximately 10:30 a.m., while conducting a neighborhood canvass for evidence, police discovered a black Old Navy jacket, a long sleeve white thermal shirt, and a steak knife. These items were found together behind a garage one (1) block from the crime scene and two (2) blocks from Short's residence. Each of these items were separately processed for DNA. The black jacket contained both the victim's DNA [blood] and Short's DNA.³¹ The white thermal shirt contained both Short's DNA and the victim's DNA [blood].³² And, the kitchen knife contained the victim's DNA and DNA consistent with Short's DNA, both blood. Short's underwear was also covered in blood. It tested positive for the victim's blood [DNA].

³¹ Short testified in his own defense and admitted the black Old Navy jacket containing the victim's blood was his. (R. pp. 839-1003).

³² Short also admitted while testifying in his own defense that the white thermal shirt containing the victim's blood, found behind the garage with the black Old Navy jacket and the knife, was his. (R. pp. 839-1003).

The scrapings from the victim's fingernails at autopsy were also examined for the presence of DNA. Short's DNA in a substantial amount was found under the victim's fingernails. The DNA expert testified the amount of Short's DNA under the victim's fingernails was substantial, more than that which would result from casual contact. It was consistent with that obtained in a struggle.

As a result, the evidence of Short's guilt was overwhelming and the admission of his post-Miranda statements, if erroneous was harmless. See State v. White, 410 S.C. 56, 60, 762 S.E.2d 726, 728 (Ct. App. 2014)(finding any error in the trial judge's failure to suppress White's statement placing White at the scene of a murder as the product of impermissible "question first and warn later" questioning was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because, "notwithstanding White's statement, cell phone evidence clearly placed [the victim] and White together at the time and place of the murder" and further finding any error to be harmless in light of the witness testimony linking White to the murder); see also State Tench, 353 S.C. 531, 537, 579 S.E.2d 314,317 (2003)("Given the abundant evidence of Tench's guilt, we find any error in the admission of the seized items clearly harmless beyond a reasonable doubt); Medley, 417 S.C. at 30, 787 S.E.2d at 853 ("[N]ot withstanding the erroneous admission of Medley's statements regarding his alcohol consumption, we find the record contained ample evidence from which a jury could have concluded Medley was guilty, beyond a reasonable doubt, of second-offense DUI. Thus, to the extent the court erred in admitting such statements, we find the error, if any, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt."); see also State v. Easler, 327 S.C. 121, 129, 489 S.E.2d 617, 621-22 (1997)([A]ny error in the failure to suppress his statements was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt . . . The overwhelming evidence of Easler's guilt renders any Miranda violation harmless.") *overruled on other grounds*, State v. Greene, 423 S.C. 263, 814 S.E.2d 496

(2018); State v. Lynch, 375 S.C. 628, 636, 654 S.E.2d 292, 297 (Ct. App. 2007)(“The overwhelming evidence of Lynch’s guilt renders any possible Miranda violation harmless.”); State v. Newell, 303 S.C. 471, 477, 401 S.E.2d 420, 424 (Ct. App. 1991)(“Although the trial judge erred in not suppressing Sergeant Canty’s testimony regarding Newell’s in-custody statement because of his failure to advise Newell of her rights under Miranda, we deem the admission of this testimony harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The record contains overwhelming evidence of Newell’s guilt independent of her statements to Sergeant Canty.” (citation omitted)); cf. White, 410 S.C. at 60, 762 S.E.2d at 728 (“[W]e find the entire record on appeal establishes beyond a reasonable doubt that any error in the admission of White’s statement did not contribute to the verdict obtained.”). Short’s conviction must be affirmed.

Finally, Short testified in his own defense and told the jury the identical facts he had told Detectives Bailey, Riedel, and Lt. Johnson admitted by the State in its’ case in chief. (R. 839-1003).³³ Short testified before the jury to the same version of events he related to the first officer on the scene, to Detective Bailey pre-Miranda, and to Bailey, Riedel, and Johnson post-Miranda. (R. pp. 839-1003). Short also admitted before the jury to each of the statements he made to police whether pre-Miranda or post-Miranda. (R. pp. 839 -1003).

Short admitted to the jury he told police at the scene that he and the victim had argued and the victim had stormed off. Short admitted to the jury he told police at the police station that he and the victim had argued at his mother’s residence, she left, and then she returned. Short admitted he told police they argued again and she struck him with car keys causing the marks on his face and she left again. He decided a short time later to follow her and attempt to calm her down and when doing so he heard her yelling for someone to “stop, stop, stop” and he ran to

³³ Short admits this fact in his brief. (BOA, p. 15, ll. 17-20).

assist her. By the time he arrived, she was lying on the ground injured. Short admitted he made the statements on the videotape when questioned by Lt. Johnson. He simply disagreed on what those statements meant. (R. pp. 839-1003). Short asserted each of the statements he made to police were true and his trial testimony was consistent with those statements because it was the truth. (R. pp. 839-1003). As a result, the admission of any of Short's statements were harmless. State v. Miles, 421 S.C. 154, 166-67, 805 S.E.2d 204 (Ct. App. 2017)(where appellant challenged the admission of his 3rd statement pursuant to Seibert and Navy but 3rd statement was cumulative to 2 prior statements of appellant introduced by appellant himself, any error was harmless), *cert. denied* October 18, 2018; State v. Martucci, 380 S.C. 232, 261 669 S.E.2d 598, 614 (Ct. App. 2008)("The admission of improper evidence is harmless where the evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence."); State v. Easler, 322 S.C. 333, 471 S.E.2d 745 (Ct. App. 1996) (*citing* People v. Cagle, 158 A.2d 931 (N.Y. 1990)(the admission of the defendant's statements in violation of Miranda held harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because the evidence of the defendant's guilt was overwhelming and the testimony of both the defendant and his witness was essentially the same as the defendant's statement), *affirmed as modified* State v. Easler, 327 S.C. 121, 489 S.E.2d 617.³⁴

³⁴ Respondent would also point out, even had Short not admitted to his pre-Miranda and post-Miranda statements while testifying before the jury, he could have been impeached with any statement taken in violation of Miranda once he took the stand. Oregon v. Hass, 420 U.S. 714, 721-22 (1975); Harris v. New York, 401 U.S. 222, 225 (1971); *See also* Oregon v. Elstad, 470 U.S. 298, 304 (1985); Michigan v. Tucker, 417 U.S. 433, 441 (1974).

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, Short's convictions and sentences must be affirmed.